IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

SUPREME COURT NO.: 79,070

CHRISTINE SWIDA,

Petitioner,

vs.

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Respondent.

FILED

SID J. WHILE

JAN 14 1992/ CLERK, SUPREME COURT

By Chief Deputy Clerk

PETITIONER'S BRIEF ON THE MERITS

LOUIS O. FROST, JR.
PUBLIC DEFENDER
FOURTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT

JAMES T. MILLER
ASSISTANT PUBLIC DEFENDER
407 Duval County Courthouse
Jacksonville, Florida 32202
(904) 630-1548

FLORIDA BAR NO. 0293679

ATTORNEY FOR PETITIONER

PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

Petitioner, Christine Swida, was the Appellant before the First District Court of Appeal and the Respondent to the Petition for Involuntary Placement, pursuant to Section 394.467, Florida Statutes, filed in the Circuit Court of Duval County. Respondent, the State of Florida, was the Appellee in the First District Court of Appeal and prosecuted the Petition for Involuntary Placement. Petitioner will designate any references to the Record on Appeal filed in the First District Court of Appeal as "R.", followed by the appropriate page number(s). References to the decision of the First District below will be found in Appendix I to this brief.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

On March 13, 1991, the administrator of the Mental Health Resource Center (MHRC) of Jacksonville filed a petition for involuntary placement of Petitioner, pursuant to Section 394.467 (2), Florida Statutes (R. 1-2). Petitioner asked for the assistance of counsel and the Public Defender's office was appointed to represent her (R. 6). The case proceeded to a hearing and produced the following relevant facts for this appeal. Dr. Michael Solloway, the State psychiatrist, examined Petitioner at MHRC (T. 3-4). Petitioner was brought to MHRC based upon an ex parte order under Chapter 394 sought by Petitioner's mother (T. 5). diagnosed Petitioner as a schizophrenic, chronic, paranoid type Petitioner had a "flattened" affect; her thought processes were disorganized and when she spoke she did not really make sense, according to Solloway (T. 6). Petitioner was able to answer questions, if Solloway kept the question goal directed and made sure he got a specific answer from Petitioner (T. 6-7).

Petitioner also had delusions - she thought she was an Ambassador from Malta and had royalty in her life and family (T. 7). Although Solloway thought this belief was delusional, he did not know that Petitioner had diplomatic status through a passport from the Knights of St. Johns organization (T. 11-12). He also didn't know that there was some royalty in Petitioner's family history (T. 12). Solloway further testified that Petitioner had zero insight into her mental illness (T. 7). She would sometimes stop taking her medication (Id). When Petitioner stops taking her medication, her thoughts become disorganized and she stops eating

eating and taking care of herself (<u>Id</u>). The last time Solloway saw Petitioner, she wasn't eating or bathing herself (<u>Id</u>). However, Petitioner <u>was not</u> clinically dehydrated or malnourished (T. 16). She was thin, bedraggled and dirty, according to Solloway (T. 16). Petitioner's condition was not life-threatening (T. 16-17). Petitioner would not refuse to eat - she was apathetic and she would have to be encouraged to eat or bathe (T. 19).

Solloway noted that Petitioner had been at MHRC five (5) times since January, 1990 (T. 7). According to Solloway, she refused voluntary placement at a ACLF (Adult Congregate Living Facility) (T. 8). Petitioner did not want to go to an ACLF as her first choice, because she wanted to go home to care for her ill mother (T. 8). An ACLF was not appropriate for Petitioner because Solloway believed she would leave it (T. 43). Solloway stated she had previously left an ACLF - Renaissance House (Id). However, Solloway did not know the details of the departure; he also didn't know that the admission at Renaissance was voluntary - Petitioner did not leave from a court-ordered admission (T. 47).

Dr. Louis Legum, a court-appointed psychologist, also examined Petitioner. He agreed with Dr. Solloway that Petitioner suffered from chronic, paranoid schizophrenia (T. 29). However, Legum noted that Petitioner had improved since he saw her in July 1990 (T. 31). She was not as agitated and not as floridly delusional (Id). Her thought content was singular and straightforward - she wanted to go home and rejoin her mother (T. 31).

Dr. Legum reviewed several less restrictive alternatives (than incarceration in the State hospital) for Petitioner. Dr.

Legum talked with the owner of the apartment where Petitioner's mother lived and where she resided before her last admission at MHRC (T. 29). Petitioner could live there; the resident manager would check on her (T. 30,35). A case manager from MHRC would also check on Petitioner once a week (T. 36). Petitioner could also use MHRC outpatient services in St. Johns County (T. 36). Dr. Legum also talked with Petitioner's mother's doctor - he learned that she (Petitioner's mother) was not in a life-threatening situation and although she was chronically ill, she was convalescing and hoped to return home soon (T 30). Petitioner's mother told Legum she would like Petitioner to come live with her (T. 30-31).

Petitioner had also been accepted at an ACLF in St. Augustine. A registered nurse would be able to give her 24 hour care at the facility (T. 30). Petitioner would receive round the clock supervision to ensure that she would eat and receive her medication (T. 39).

Dr. Legum then specifically addressed the criteria for an involuntary hospitalization. Petitioner is mentally ill, needs treatment and is unable to provide that for herself (T. 32). He also agreed Petitioner has no insight into her illness (T. 35). However, Dr. Legum noted that he was not sure at all that Petitioner is a danger to herself (T. 32). He further noted that although she stopped eating for a couple of weeks, Petitioner still took fluids or liquids, according to her mother (T. 32). Legum conceded that it was, at best, a "very dicey" proposition as

to whether Petitioner would continue to take her medication on her own (T. 37).

Legum agreed that if Petitioner stopped her medication, her physical appearance would deteriorate (T. 34). believed the landlord and the caseworker from MHRC could help ensure that Petitioner took her medication (T. 36). He stated that he was not sure what the consequences would be if she should stop taking medication and he was not sure that lack of medication would put her, or anyone else, in a devastating situation (T. The court then asked Dr. Legum what would happen if Petitioner stopped taking her medication (T. 37-38). Legum answered that Petitioner would remain delusional, but he didn't think she would necessarily act in a self-destructive or other destructive fashion upon those delusions (T. 38). Legum believed residence at her mother's home ACLF was appropriate (T. 32). oran

Dr. Legum next testified that an involuntary hospitalization would be <u>harmful</u> to Petitioner. Legum opined that an admission to the State hospital would be devastating because she would be away from her mother; Petitioner and her mother have a very curious and symbiotic relationship, a need to stay in touch with one another (T. 32). Petitioner and her mother recently lived 7 years together and Legum was concerned about her if she was separated from her mother (T. 32-33). Petitioner could become substantially depressed (T. 33).

Petitioner then testified on her own behalf. She testified that she $\underline{\text{would}}$ continue to take her medication because she has been directed to do so (T. 40). She also stated she would $\underline{\text{not}}$

run away from an ACLF, if it was close to her mother and the doctors felt she needed it (T. 40). (Petitioner's mother lives in St. Augustine and the ACLF is in St. Augustine) (T. 40). Petitioner admitted she would rather go home, but she knew the doctors did not believe that was appropriate (T. 41).

Petitioner stated she stopped eating because she was on a diet (T. 41). However, the diet (to lose weight) was over and she stopped dieting once she reached a certain level (T. 41). The State then asked Petitioner if she would leave the ACLF if she was not happy with it; she said no, unless someone discharged her (T. 42).

The Court then addressed some further questions to Dr. Solloway concerning an ACLF. Solloway told the Court that an ACLF was not appropriate because Petitioner was free to leave (T. 43). Solloway also noted that although Petitioner would agree to reside at an ACLF, she could then leave. For example, Petitioner left Renaissance ACLF under such circumstances. However, Solloway conceded that the admission to Renaissance was voluntary and was not based upon a court order (T. 47).

ACCORDING to Solloway, control over medication at an ACLF would probably be marginally better than at home. An ACLF would not have nurses; the pill bottle is simply put out and the patients must take their own medicine (T. 44). The court then noted to Solloway that the ACLF in St. Augustine did have a registered nurse (Id). Despite this fact and his earlier statement, Solloway stated his opinion was still the same because Petitioner would not stay and she would not comply with her medication

(<u>Id</u>). Solloway also testified that further treatment would help Petitioner and the revolving door (presumably referring to admissions to MHRC) was not helping her.

The court then asked Solloway about the possible adverse consequences to Petitioner due to separation from her mother (T. 45). Solloway simply responded that Petitioner had been separated from her for over a month (at MHRC) and would not be more separated from her by being at the State hospital (T. 45). Separation would not be as destructive as lack of supervision and medication (T. 46). Solloway then stated that the chance of Petitioner having a better relationship with her mother could come from her treatment (T. 46).

The parties then argued their respective positions on whether Petitioner met the criteria for involuntary hospitalization (T. 48-53). The court then weighed the evidence and announced his decision and the reasons for it:

THE COURT: I must confess, I'm willing -- this is a very difficult case for me to make a decision on. Both the doctors, the psychologist and psychiatrist in this case are pretty much down the line with each other until we get to the divergence of opinion as to whether or not there is -- a less restrictive environment would be a suitable alternative.

Dr. Solloway is pretty adamant in his opinion that it would not be. Dr. Legum says that there are other alternatives, but he qualified it some ways -- I don't want to go into a long speech, I'm trying to talk this out a little bit to enable myself to come to a

conclusion on this -- he qualifies his opinion as to place by saying that there are no -- he has no unequivocal or sure recommendations as to place.

He's walking back in the room. I'm quoting from you. Okay.

The other thing he said that gives me pause, is that, at best it's a, quote, a dicey proposition, close quote, whether she would take her medication in a less restrictive Given that and environment. Dr. Solloway's much more determined opinion to the contrary and with considerable reluctance on my part, I'm going to order that she be committed to the mental health -- Northeast Florida State Hospital. 53-54).

Later, the Circuit Court entered a written order committing Petitioner to the State hospital until October 4, 1991 (R. 13).

The case was then appealed to the First District Court of Appeal. During the pendency of the appeal, Petitioner was released from her involuntary commitment. Counsel notified the First District of this fact on December 9, 1991. The court certified the following question to this Court (Appendix I - opinion of First District Court of Appeal):

"WHEN AN INDIVIDUAL SEEKING REVIEW OF AN ORDER OF INVOLUNTARY COMMIT-MENT HAS BEEN RELEASED FROM THAT COMMITMENT PRIOR TO DISPOSITION OF THE APPEAL ON THE MERITS, WHAT SHOW-ING MUST SHE MAKE TO AVOID DISMISSAL OF THE APPEAL ON GROUNDS OF MOOT-NESS?"

On December 18, 1991, this Court entered an order postponing decision on jurisdiction and issuing a briefing schedule.

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

The certified question in this case is identical to the certified question in Godwin v. State, Case No. 75,881. recently decided in Godwin, supra, that an appeal from a Baker Act commitment does not become moot solely because the person subject to the commitment has been released because of the collateral legal consequences of the filing of a lien for services provided by The Department of Health and Rehabilitative Services under Section 402.33(8), Florida Statutes (1989). The majority opinion in Godwin decided that the other possible consequences raised in this brief are not collateral legal consequences. members of this Court, Kogan, Barkett, J.J. and Shaw, C.J., accepted Petitioner's arguments about the other adverse consequences which flow from a Baker Act commitment. Petitioner urges this Court to reconsider its decision in Godwin and adopt the opinion of Justice Kogan and the arguments presented in this brief.

This Court should answer the certified question by deciding that <u>all</u> appeals of involuntary commitments are <u>not</u> moot when the Appellant is released from commitment before the appeal is decided. Florida courts have previously held that an involuntary commitment appeal is moot after the citizen is released, unless there are adverse <u>legal</u> consequences. <u>See Madden v. State</u>, 463 So.2d 270 (Fla. 2d DCA 1984). This Court should reject this limited view of mootness. Most, if not all, state and federal courts have decided such appeals are <u>not</u> moot for the following four reasons:

1. An involuntary commitment involves a total loss of liberty, akin to a criminal incarceration, and public policy requires that such claims be adjudicated to avoid similar losses of liberty in the future.

The United State Supreme Court in O'Connor v. Donaldson, 422 U.S. 563, 95 S.Ct. 2486, 45 L.Ed.2d 396 (1975), decided that an involuntary commitment is a deprivation of liberty, akin to incarceration for a crime, which requires a court to follow due process. Fundamental fairness requires a review of a case which results in a complete deprivation of liberty. If an appellate court does not review such a case because of mootness, a citizen could face several commitments without an opportunity to have his or her case reviewed on appeal. Public policy requires a review of any case where a person is deprived of his or her liberty. This Court in Kinner v. State, 398 So.2d 1360 (Fla. 1981), decided that a court could consider a mental health case which was moot, if the case raises a question of great public importance and will affect a significant number of future cases. Several out-of-state considered this jurisdictions have issue and decided the significant loss of liberty, coupled with the possibility of future commitments based upon the unreviewed commitment, defeated a mootness claim. See People v. Nunn, 438 N.E.2d 1342 (Ill. App. 1st Dist. 1982); State v. Lodge, 608 S.W.2d 910 (Tex. 1980); In Re Hatley, 231 S.E.2d 633 (N.C. 1977).

2. An involuntary commitment creates severe adverse social consequences.

An involuntary commitment creates severe adverse social consequences such as a loss of employment or a damage to reputation. An Oregon Court in State v. Van Tassel, 484 P.2d 1117 (Or. App. 1971), specifically decided a case was not moot because the involuntary commitment could affect future employment. An Illinois appeals court in People v. Nunn, 438 N.Ed.2d 1342 (III. App. 1st Dist. 1982), also followed this principle. Although these consequences are not legal collateral consequences, they are pernicious enough to defeat a mootness claim.

3. An involuntary commitment creates a stigma which justifies an exception to the mootness doctrine.

The First District in In Re Sealy, 218 So.2d 765 (Fla. 1st DCA 1969), held that the stigma of an adjudication of incompetence was sufficient to overcome the technical mootness of an appeal. The First District Court of Appeal in this case and in Godwin v. State, 557 So.2d 995 (Fla. 1st DCA 1990), did not expressly overrule nor discuss In Re Sealy. The principle enunciated in In Re Sealy is the better view of this issue because other state courts have followed it. See State v. Van Tassel, supra; State v. Lodge, supra; In Re D.B.W., 616 P.2d 1149 (Okla. 1980); Lessard v. Schmidt, 349 F.Supp. 1078 (E.D. Wisc. 1972); Note, "Developments in the Law of Civil Commitment of the Mentally Ill," 87 Harv.L.Rev. 1190 (1974).

4. The issues presented in an appeal of an involuntary commitment are capable of repetition, yet could evade review.

The greater weight of authority in this country has decided appeals of involuntary commitments are not moot because



the issues presented by such cases are capable of repetition, yet could evade review. Counsel has been unable to find a case which considered this issue and decided the appeal was moot. The following state and federal courts have used the capable of repetition, yet evading review doctrine to overcome a claim of mootness: California - Conservatorship of Manton, 803 P.2d 1147 (Cal. 1985); Massachusetts - Hashimi v. Kalil, 446 N.E.2d 1387 (Mass. 1983); Minnesota - In Re Cordie, 372 N.W.2d 24 (Minn. App. 1985); New Jersey - In Re Z.O., 484 A.2d 1287 (N.J. Super. A.D. 1984); New Mexico - In Re Bunnell, 668 P.2d 1119 (N.M. App. 1983); North Carolina - In Re Hatley, 231 S.E.2d 633 (N.C. 1977); Oregon -State v. Smith, 692 P.2d 120 (Or. App. 1984); Pennsylvania - In Re S.O., 492 A.2d 727 (Pa. Super. Ct. 1985); Tennessee - In Re Helvenston, 658 S.W.2d 99 (Tenn. App. 1983); Texas - Lodge v. State, 597 S.W.2d 773 (Tex.Civ.App. 4th Dist. 1980); Washington -In Re McLaughlin, 676 P.2d 444 (Wash. 1984); Wisconsin - In Re W.J.C., 369 N.W.2d 162 (Wisc. App. 1985); and Federal - In Re Ballay, 482 F.2d 648 (D.C. Cir. 1973).

For all of the above-described reasons, appeal of involuntary commitments should never become moot when the citizen is released during the pendency of an appeal. Fundamental fairness and public policy require that this Court adopt a mootness principle which is identical to the mootness standard used in criminal appeals because involuntary commitment involves a similar deprivation of liberty and creates many of the same adverse social consequences arising from a criminal conviction and incarceration.

ARGUMENT

ISSUE I

THE RELEASE OF A CITIZEN FROM AN INVOL-UNTARY HOSPITALIZATION DOES NOT RENDER A PENDING APPEAL MOOT BECAUSE AN INVOL-UNTARY COMMITMENT TO A MENTAL HOSPITAL INVOLVES A SIGNIFICANT LOSS OF LIBERTY, CREATES SEVERE SOCIAL CONSEQUENCES, CAUSES A LIFE-LONG STIGMA FOR THE PER-SON COMMITTED AND INVOLVES LEGAL ISSUES WHICH ARE CAPABLE OF REPETITION, BUT WHICH COULD EVADE APPELLATE REVIEW.

A. The issue in this cause.

The First District Court of Appeal in Godwin v. State, supra, decided that an appeal of an involuntary commitment would not be moot following a release from commitment, if the appellant could demonstrate collateral legal consequences from the commitment. See also Taylor v. State, 536 So.2d 1050 (Fla. 1st DCA 1988); Westlake v. State, 440 So.2d 74 (Fla. 5th DCA 1983). As Florida courts have previously decided that collateral legal consequences overcome mootness, the First District obviously was concerned about whether non-legal consequences could overcome mootness. In this cause and in Godwin, supra, there are no apparent collateral legal consequences. Therefore, the question for this Court is limited to whether non-legal consequences will defeat a mootness claim.

This Court should resolutely reject a principle of mootness limited only to the proof of adverse collateral legal consequences. The unique nature of an involuntary commitment based upon mental illness renders the collateral legal consequences



doctrine inappropriate because an involuntary hospitalization is a complete loss of liberty akin to incarceration for a crime. Moreover, the fact of an involuntary commitment can prevent individuals from holding/keeping certain professional jobs. The involuntary hospitalization can keep a citizen from having other jobs or renting/owning property. A lifelong stigma will usually follow an individual involuntarily committed to a state mental hospital.

Involuntary commitments to a state hospital, pursuant to Section 394.467, Florida Statutes, last for up to 6 months. It is almost impossible for busy courts and counsel to complete an entire appeal, from preparation of the record to the opinion of the court, in 6 months. In this case, the First District expedited the appeal by Petitioner. Despite this action, the case was still not decided within 6 months. Cases involving involuntary commitments involve significant legal and constitutional issues. The District Courts of Appeal and this Court has reviewed and reversed many cases involving such issues. See, e.g., Welk v. State, 542 So.2d 1343 (Fla. 1st DCA 1989); Williams v. State, 522 So.2d 983 (Fla. 1st DCA 1988); Schexnayder v. State, 495 So.2d 850 (Fla. 1st DCA 1986); Reigosa v. State, 362 So.2d 714 (Fla. 1st DCA 1978); In Re Beverly, 342 So.2d 481 (Fla. 1977).

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