# FILED

FEB 7 1992

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

CLERK, SHPREME COURT

By

Chief Deputy Clerk

CHRISTINE SWIDA,

Petitioner,

vs.

CASE NO. 79,070

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Respondent.

#### RESPONDENT'S BRIEF ON THE MERITS

ROBERT A. BUTTERWORTH ATTORNEY GENERAL

KATHLEEN E. MOORE Assistant Attorney General Florida Bar #: 0750174

DEPARTMENT OF LEGAL AFFAIRS The Capitol - Suite 1501 Tallahassee, FL 32399-1050 (904) 488-1573

##

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

likelihood the potential committee will inflict serious bodily harm in the near future or that he is manifestly incapable of surviving alone or with the help of willing family or friends. Section 394.467(1)(a)2.a and 2.b., F.S. Providing even further protection is the heightened standard of proof required for involuntarily commitment. The court must find by clear and convincing evidence, not merely a preponderance of evidence, that the criteria for commitment exist. Section 394.467(1), F.S. Thus, there are numerous protections in place to ensure that Petitioner's liberty interest were not improperly infringed upon when Petitioner was involuntarily placed at NFSH for treatment on April 4, 1991. While recognizing that Petitioner significant liberty interest when confinement was threatened and during the months that Petitioner was actually confined, upon release from NFSH, Petitioner's liberty interests were no longer at stake. See, O'Connor, supra. Moreover, if Petitioner is ever to be committed in the future, the State must show that Petitioner meets the criteria to commit with "fresh" evidence. See, Section 394.467, F.S.

Therefore, Petitioner's argument that public policy requires that claims mooted by release should be adjudicated to avoid similar losses of liberty in the future, is without merit. The question of whether Petitioner met the criteria for commitment on April 4, 1991 has no bearing on whether she will be committed at some unspecified and unknown date in the future. See, Everett, supra.

Unlike Florida's involuntary commitment statute, the involuntary commitment statutes of some states provide that a prior commitment is relevant to subsequent commitments even when there has been an intervening release. Under statutory schemes where this sort of linkage is permissible, liberty interests remain at issue even after an individual has been released. example, Texas' statutory scheme allows for temporary commitment of 90 days and an indefinite commitment. Only if a person has been committed pursuant to a Temporary Commitment Order sometime within the past twelve (12) months, may an order of Indefinite Commitment issue. Art. 5547-31, Texas Mental Health Code. Because a temporary commitment can serve as a predicate to a future commitment, release from the temporary commitment does not render an appeal moot under the commitment laws of Texas. See, State v. Lodge, 608 S.W.2d 910 (Tex. 1980).

Petitioner's reliance on <u>State v. Lodge</u> to guide this Court in answering the question before it, is therefore, misplaced. Texas' statutory scheme allows for a former commitment to serve as a predicate for a later commitment, while Florida's statutory scheme does not permit this sort of linkage.

Reliance on <u>In Re Hatley</u>, 231 S.E.2d 633 (N.C. 1977) is similarly misplaced. Therein, the court specifically notes that the decision to commit the appellant was based on prior commitments <u>Id</u>., at 635.

Petitioner also argues that without the opportunity to appeal her commitment after release, a person could be caught in

a revolving door of involuntary commitments. If some individual is indeed caught in this unfortunate circumstance, it is not because the opportunity to appeal a commitment after release exists only when a collateral legal consequence is alleged. Rather, it is because the individual has improved so that he is no longer a threat to himself or others or has improved so that he can survive, has been released, and then later deteriorates to the point that commitment is again necessary.

While Petitioner has argued that she should be allowed to pursue her appeal because of the liberty interests involved, no effort was made by Petitioner or Petitioner's counsel to petition the circuit court or the First District Court of Appeal for writ of habeas corpus in order to secure Petitioner's speedy release. Section 394.459(10)(a), Florida Statutes, specifically states:

At any time, and without notice, a person detained by a facility, or a relative, friend, or guardian, representative, or an attorney on behalf of such person, may petition for a writ of habeas corpus to question the cause and legality of such detention and request that the circuit court issue a writ for release.

§394.459(10)(a), Florida Statutes.

In light of counsel for Petitioners present concern for Petitioner's liberty interest (now that Petitioner is released from custody) it is problematic to Respondent that no petition for writ of habeas corpus was filed while Petitioner's liberty interests were actually affected. The Fifth District Court of

Appeal has noted "that the most salutory relief available to a person wrongfully committed would be release pursuant to a timely petition for habeas corpus, not an impractical appeal which cannot avert short-term confinement." Everett, 440 So.2d at 75.

#### C. The Threat Of Potential Adverse Consequences

establishes appeal law the right to Current involuntary commitment when a collateral legal consequence is Westlake, supra. There is, therefore, no summary alleged. disposal of an appeal of an involuntary commitment potential of adverse social Petitioner arques that the consequences warrants abrogation of the mootness doctrine. This violates the fundamental principle that courts must address cases or controversies rather than hypothetical situations. must limit the exercise of their power to cases where an adjudication will affect the rights of the parties involved.

Petitioner cites <u>State v. Van Tassel</u>, 484 P.2d 1117 (Or. App. 1971) as a court of appeal's case that has rejected mootness on the basis of potential employment or bonding difficulties. Traditionally, the Oregon Supreme Court has taken a relaxed approach toward mootness. <u>Id.</u>, at 1121. The Oregon Supreme Court has heard habeas corpus petitions even after release and has heard an appeal dealing solely with the question of the length of a criminal sentence where that sentence had already been completed. Id. at 1121-1122.

Other jurisdictions have not taken such a relaxed approach. The Wisconsin Supreme Court in In Re M.G.S., 348 N.W.

2d 181 (Wis. 1984), dismissed an appeal of an involuntary commitment order brought by a patient that had been released. The court stated that:

This court has consistently adhered to the that а case is moot when determination is sought upon some matter when rendered, cannot have practical legal effect upon a then existing controversy. Milwaukee Police Assn. v. City of Milwaukee, 92 Wis.2d 175, 183, 285 N.W.2d 133, 137 (1979). It is generally thought to be in the interest of judicial economy to avoid litigating issues that will no affect real parties to an existing controversy. State ex rel. La Crosse Tribune v. Circuit Court, 115 Wis.2d 220, 228, 340 N.W.2d 460, 464 (1983).

Id. at 182.

The New York Court of Appeal is in accord with the above-cited authority. In <u>Boggs v. NYC Health and Hospitals Corp.</u>, 70 N.Y.2d 972, 520 N.E.2d 515 (N.Y. 1988) the court dismissed an appeal presenting only issues regarding the sufficiency of the evidence of commitment as moot. The court stated that:

[t]he "power of a court to declare the law only arises out of, and is limited to, determining the rights of persons which are actually controverted in a particular case pending before the tribunal "(Matter of Hearst Corp. v. Clyne, 50 N.Y.2d 707, 713, 431 N.Y.S.2d 400, N.E. 2d 876). Where, as here, a change in circumstances resolves the matter and no controversy remains, the appeal should be dismissed as moot.

<u>Id.</u> at 520 N.E. 2d 516.

Claims by released patients regarding concerns about future employment, reputation and standing in the community were specifically held to be insufficient to overcome mootness or were

termed speculative in State Ex Rel D.W. v. Hensley, 574 S.W.2d 389 (Mo. 1978) and in <u>In re Ringland</u>, 357 N.W.2d 132 (Minn. 1984).

A number of other foreign jurisdictions continue to support application of the mootness doctrine to commitment appeals, applying the same exceptions as Florida courts.

Radulski v. Delaware State Hospital, 562 A.2d 562 (Del. 1988); In re Faucher, 558 A.2d 705 (Me. 1989); In re Robledo, 341 N.W.2d 278 (Minn. 1983); State Ex Rel D.W., supra; Diamond v. Cross, 662 P.2d 828 (Wash. 1983); In re G.S., 348 N.W. 2d 181 (Wis. 1984); Boggs, supra.

The case of <u>Radulski</u>, <u>supra</u>, is noteworthy in that the Delaware Supreme Court encouraged attorneys to utilize expedited review of involuntary commitment cases as a way of avoiding application of the mootness doctrine. <u>Id</u>. at 566. Expedited review would be an option in Florida, especially in those instances where counsel for the committed individual believes that the commitment is clearly wrongful and that the committed individual will thus be quickly released by the hospital from custody. As evidenced by the record in this case, involuntary commitment proceedings are relatively short and uncomplicated. A notice of appeal could be submitted immediately and the trial judge could order expedited preparation of the transcript and

record. It would be the responsibility of the appellant to timely submit an initial brief and to motion the appellate court for expedited consideration of the appeal. Not only would this have the effect of avoiding a dismissal on the grounds of mootness, it would serve the committed individual's interest in being released as soon as possible. If the procedure suggested above had been utilized by the Petitioner it is likely that the 1st DCA would have had the opportunity to issue a decision before Petitioner was released from NFSH.

Respondent asserts that the cases cited above provide a proper balance between the private interest and the government's interest not only because an appeal based on potential future social consequences fails to present a case or controversy, but also because (1) the effectiveness of an appeal to remedy potential adverse social consequences is questionable and (2) direct and effective there exists more means to combat discrimination in the form of federal anti-discrimination laws.

Petitioner's characterization of the First District's opinions in <u>Forness v. State</u>, 533 So.2d 932 (Fla. 1st DCA 1988) and <u>MacIntyre v. State</u>, 505 So.2d 2 (Fla. 1st DCA 1986) as precedent or support for the proposition that possible effects on employment defeats mootness, is misplaced. The opinion in these cases consist of merely two sentences stating that there is not competent substantial evidence in the record to support the commitment and that the order of involuntary commitment is reversed. There is no indication from the opinion that mootness

was even an issue nor is there any indication what matters the court considered, let alone what matters the court found persuasive.

The Petitioner's arguments regarding the potential of unspecified adverse social consequences fails to present this Court with an actual case or controversy. Petitioner has failed to allege any actual adverse social consequences suffered by her as a result of her involuntary commitment, nor has she established that a reversal of her commitment would prevent her from suffering adverse social consequences.

#### D. The Threat Of Stigma

Stigma does not provide a sufficient basis upon which to overturn <u>Kinner</u>, <u>supra</u>, and the mootness doctrine enunciated therein. The Supreme Court has noted that it is the symptomatology of mental illness that is truly stigmatizing, (Parham v. J.R., 442 U.S. 584 (1979)), not the commitment itself.

As discussed previously, the majority of involuntary commitment appeals do not challenge the determination that the appellant is suffering from a mental illness and instead challenge one of the other findings required by Chapter 394, F.S. Moreover, it is the mental illness diagnosis itself and the resultant behavioral symptoms of mental illness that are the root of societal stigma, not hospitalization. Even if this Court were to find that commitment imposes some additional measure of stigma

upon the individual, the extent to which an order overturning an involuntary commitment alleviates or extinguishes this additional measure of stigma is questionable. Already, there are confidentiality provisions to protect an individual's records from release or disclosure. See, Section 394.459(9), F.S.

If this Court were to accept Petitioner's position that mootness should never be applied to involuntary commitment appeals, courts might well be deciding an appeal, when a released individual had been subsequently committed, solely on the basis that an individual might, sometime in their life, suffer social stigma from their commitment. The State contends that this would be a poor use of the state's limited administrative and fiscal resources.

While it is true that the First District in 1969 reversed an order of incompetence after the appellant had been released and his sanity restored, (In Re Sealy, 218 So.2d 765 (Fla. 1st DCA 1969)), this Court in 1987 held that release moots an appeal contesting the sufficiency of the evidence to commit. See, Kinner, supra. Petitioner has not provided any cogent reason for this Court to abandon its application of the mootness doctrine enunciated in Godwin, supra, and Kinner, supra, and to replace it with the one enunciated by the First District in 1969. The current criteria for commitment is more stringent than the criteria in place in 1969, so that the threat of unwarranted commitment as occurred in Sealey is minimal. See, Section 394.467, F.S.

# E. The Capable of Repetition, Yet Evading Review Exception to the Mootness Doctrine Is Inapplicable to Petitioner's Appeal

Petitioner states that the greater weight of authority holds that release does not moot an involuntary commitment appeal "because the issues presented by such cases are capable of repetition, yet could evade appellate review." Petitioner's Brief on the Merits, p. 22. What Petitioner has failed to recognize is that a case may be moot for the purposes of a challenge to the sufficiency of the evidence, yet still present In neither In Re W.J.C., 369 N.W.2d a live justiciable issue. 162 (Wisc. App. 1985), nor In Re McLaughlin, 676 P.2d 444 (Wash. 1984), nor In Re Cordie, 372 N.W.2d 24 (Minn. App. 1985) nor In Re Z.O., 484 A.2d 1287 (N.J. Super. A.D. 1984) nor In Re Bunnell, 666 P.2d 1119 (N.W. App. 1983), nor in In Re Helvenston, 658 S.W.2d 99 (Tenn. App. 1983), nor in Hashimi v. Kalil, 446 N.E.2d (Mass. 1983), nor in Conservatorship of Manton, 703 P.2d 1985) the respective courts hold that the (Cal. do sufficiency of the evidence to commit is an issue capable of repetition yet evading review, warranting review of such evidence after release. In fact, in W.J.C., supra, and in McLaughlin, supra, the courts held that the validity of the commitment was moot because the committee had been released. The issue capable of repetition in W.J.C. was whether to allow telephone testimony at commitment hearings and in McLaughlin, the issues capable of repetition were the standard of proof at commitment hearings and whether a unanimous verdict is necessary to commit. In Cordie,

supra, the court specifically stated that the commitment orders subject to review; the analysis themselves not were restricted to the issue of the performance of counsel. In Bunnel, supra, the court addressed the issue of whether to grant a continuance to counsel in involuntary commitment hearings, and in Helvenston, supra, the court addressed the issue of whether the privilege against self-incrimination applied to judicial hospital proceedings. In none of of the cases cited above did the courts review the sufficiency of the evidence to commit. Hashimi, supra, the court did not review the sufficiency of the evidence to commit, but heard the appeal to interpret troubling statutory language. And in the Conservatorship of Manton, supra, the court did not review the sufficiency of the evidence, but ruled on the issue of the admissibility of the evidence in These cases apply the mootness conservatorship hearings. doctrine as did this Court in Kinner, supra. While the issues relating to the sufficiency of the evidence to commit were mooted by release, other unrelated issues prevented the dismissal of the case as moot.

The "capable of repetition, yet evading review" exception to mootness is limited to cases where (1) the action is in its duration too short to be fully litigated prior to its cessation, and (2) there is a reasonable expectation that the same complaining party would be subjected to the same action again." Sosna v. Iowa, 419 U.S. 393 (1976). In the absence of a class action, to overcome mootness with the capable of repetition

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